#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 4 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
DV /\  /
Chief Deputy Chark

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,731

McARTHUR BREEDLOVE,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

the circuit court's granting of This appeal is from Breedlove's third motion for postconviction relief, filed pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850. Portions of the original record on appeal, filed in Breedlove v. State, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 56,811, are relevant to this proceeding, and will be cited as (OR ); the instant record on appeal, generated on Breedlove's most recent collateral attack will be cited as (3 PCR ) .

McArthur Breedlove was indicted for the murder of Frank Budnick, and tried in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit on February 28, 1978, through March 5, 1978. Prior to trial, counsel for Breedlove filed, on February 21, 1979, a motion to declare §921.141 unconstitutional, arguing, inter alia, that the aggravating circumstances were impermissibly vague and overbroad; in pertinent part, the motion read:

Aggravating circumstance (h) applies where the capital felony is especially cruel, heinous or atrocious. Almost any capital felony would appear especially cruel, heinous and atrocious to the layman, particularly any felony murder. Examination of the widespread application of the circumstance indicates that reasonable and consistent application is impossible (OR 49-55).

The motion also asserted that the statute violated <u>Lockett v.</u>

Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978), as

limiting the mitigating circumstances which could be considered

(OR 51-3). The motion was denied the next day (OR 55A).

At trial, the state established that the victim, Frank Budnick, had recently moved into the home of Carol Meoni (OR 715-16). According to Ms. Meoni, the two went to bed at midnight on

the night in question, and Ms. Meoni testified that she later woke up with a severe pain on the side of her head (OR 726). The witness stated that she felt Mr. Budnick get over on top of her, and that when she asked him what was wrong, he replied, "I am bleeding." (OR 726). Ms. Meoni stated, at this point, she looked up and saw a shadow go out of the bedroom door, such shadow followed by Mr. Budnick; turning on the light, she found that the bed was covered with blood (OR 726). Running out of the room, the witness saw a bloody knife by the front door and the victim's nude body lying face down by the street (OR 727). witness stated that Budnick, who was bleeding, was still alive and making sounds at this point (OR 726-7). Going back into the house, Ms. Meoni noted that she had blood on her face and a cut above her eye (OR 731); she stated that this wound required nine (9) stitches (OR 737). Ms. Meoni recognized the knife as one from her kitchen (OR 739). She also noted that her purse was missing from the living room, where she had left it (OR 733). The witness stated that she later determined that she was missing a gold pocket watch and a pair of earrings, which she believed to have been in her purse or on the bureau dresser, as well as some cash, which had been in her purse (OR 734-5).

Officers who reported to the scene testified that they were dispatched at 3:00 A.M. in the morning, and that, upon arrival, found the victim's body by the street (OR 612-13). Officer Roper testified that there was quite a bit of blood on the front step, as well as in the living room and bedroom (OR 614). The officer found that the door between the kitchen and utility room was open, and that Ms. Meoni's purse was in the backyard, with the

contents scattered on the ground (OR 615-16). Officer Weiss testified that he had retrieved the murder weapon, which turned out to be an 8 3/4 inch kitchen knife (OR 633). He also retrieved a pillow from the bed which had slash marks across it (OR 641-2); he described the pillow as "heavily bloodstained" (OR 647). A pair of blue jeans was found in the living room, with an empty wallet nearby (OR 661-3). Officer Weiss testified that he observed pry marks on the door between the kitchen and the utility room (OR 663-4); Weiss also noted that two of the kitchen drawers were open (OR 664-6).

The medical examiner, Dr. Kessler, testified that he had been called to the scene, and had observed a great deal of blood throughout the front rooms of the residence (OR 758); witness specifically stated that there was a trail of bloody footprints leading through the living room, "going over to a pair of jeans with the wallet next to it" (OR 759). Dr. Kessler stated that he had autopsied the victim, and that the victim had died as the result of a stab wound to the left upper chest (OR 766). The doctor testified that the wound was  $1 \frac{1}{2}$  inches wide, 3 inches long and 5 1/2 inches deep, extending through the clavicle, the subclavian vein, the chest cavity, the lung and all the way to the shoulder blade in the back (OR 769, 771). Kessler stated that the wound could have been inflicted from "above", when the victim was lying down in bed (OR 771). witness stated that the wound had been inflicted with a great deal of force, because it had broken the collar bone (OR 771, 779, 781). Dr. Kessler noted the presence of defensive wounds on the victim's hands, which were consistent with an attempt to ward

off the knife blow (OR 772-3); he also examined a photograph of Ms. Meoni and observed the presence of similar defensive wounds on her hands (OR 764).

On the night of the murder, a neighbor observed a man pedal off on a blue bicycle (OR 591-4). It was later determined that a blue bicycle had been stolen from a home two houses away from the victim's residence (OR 784-7). The bicycle was later discovered at Breedlove's residence, and a screwdriver was found under the cushions of the sofa where he slept (OR 832, 897); Breedlove lived nine blocks from the victim's home (OR 883). Breedlove gave two statements to the police. In the first, he denied knowing anything about the bicycle, later changing his story to claim that he stolen it when he had become tired while walking back from the liquor store (OR 922-5). Likewise, Breedlove originally claimed that he had been wearing long pants at this time, but later changed his story and stated that he had cut off the legs of the pants after they had become bloody in a fight which he had gotten into (OR 927-930). When the officers indicated that they did not believe Breedlove, he responded that the police were simply trying to frame him, and that he supposed that they were going to say that the blood on his pants "came from the man inside the house." (OR 939). Breedlove then said that the police could not prove that he had been inside the house, because none of his fingerprints would be found therein when asked why his fingerprints would not be found (OR 940); therein, Breedlove replied that he had been "wearing socks" (OR 941-2).

Breedlove gave a subsequent statement on November 21, 1978, in which he admitted committing the instant offense (OR 1037-In this statement, Breedlove admitted breaking into the victim's residence, stating that he had entered through the back door into the utility room and kitchen (OR 1043-4). He then went into the living room and took Ms. Meoni's purse; he took the purse over to the back porch and dumped out its contents (OR 1043-5). Breedlove admitted taking some money and a watch from the purse (OR 1045); he stated that he had later sold the watch to a junkie in Hallandale (OR 1051). Breedlove stated that he had then entered the bedroom, where he had begun going through the dresser drawers; he stated that he gotten a knife from the kitchen which he used to pry open the jewelry box (OR 1046-7). According to Breedlove, the victim had woken up, just as the jewelry box "popped open", and Budnick had "jumped up" and asked the defendant what he was doing (OR 1048). Breedlove stated that he "panicked" when Budnick grabbed his shirt, and had "swung back" with a knife (OR 1046, 1048). Breedlove only "swung" once with the knife, and did not recall striking Ms. Meoni (OR 1048). He then dropped the knife and ran out, first, however, grabbing the victim's jeans and going through them (OR 1048). admitted stealing the blue bicycle and riding off (OR 1049).

The defense rested without calling any witnesses, and the jury convicted Breedlove of first-degree murder, burglary of a dwelling with an assault, grand theft and petit theft, acquitting him of the attempted murder of Carol Meoni (OR 154-8). The penalty phase was conducted on March 5, 1979 (OR 1273-1483; 3PCR

6-216). Prior to the testimonial phase, a conference was held at which the parties discussed various legal matters (3PCR 7-22). During this conference, defense counsel stated, without elaboration, that he renewed all prior motions to dismiss the statute, "that would provide for these instructions as being unconstitutional"; he added that the instructions "unconstitutionally limit the mitigating circumstances involved" Defense counsel then argued in favor of various (3PCR 17). defense-requested instructions (3PCR 17-21); apparently there were fifteen (15) such requested instructions, and ruling was deferred until later in the proceeding (3PCR 19-22). During a subsequent break in the proceedings, the matter was revisited (3 PCR 119-124). At this time, the judge indicated that he would give two of the requested instructions - that in regard to the of limitation of mitigating circumstances precluding "doubling" of aggravating circumstances (3PCR 120-2). The court announced that it would deny other requested instructions, including requested instruction #5, as "covered in the charge" (3PCR 119); this requested instruction read:

The aggravating circumstances that the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel applies only where the actual commission of the capital felony was accomplished by such additional acts as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felony - - - the consciousness [sic] or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily torturous to the victim (3PCR 543).

The transcript of the penalty phase is also contained in the instant postconviction appeal record, and, for convenience, citations will be made to the record in this cause.

During the evidentiary portion of the penalty phase, the state called two witnesses (3PCR 24-56). George Blishak of the Los Angeles Police Department testified that in 1968 he had arrested Breedlove for burglary and assault with intent to commit rape (3PCR 31). He testified that, in that case, Breedlove had gotten into a woman's apartment and had begun to choke her, while attempting sexual intercourse (3PCR 27 - 31). Authorities discovered that Breedlove had committed another assault with intent to commit rape, in which he had attacked a woman in her own home, stuffing a handkerchief into her mouth and getting on top of her, before running off (3PCR 31-2). Breedlove was convicted of these charges (3PCR 33-4). The state called Dr. Ronald Wright, the Deputy Chief Medical Examiner (3PCR 47). Wright testified that he had reviewed the autopsy file, and that in his opinion, the victim had literally drowned in his own blood (3PCR 52-3). He also stated that the fracture of the clavicle and the puncture of the pleural lining had been "associated with considerable pain" (3 PCR 53). Dr. Wright opined that Budnick had still been conscious at the time that he had stepped outside and fallen down (3PCR 54-5).

The defense called three mental health experts at the penalty phase (3PCR 57-119). Dr. Center, a psychologist, testified that he had examined Breedlove and had performed various psychological tests. The witness stated that the test results suggested that Breedlove fell within the dull-normal range of intellectual functioning, and that he suffered from brain dysfunction (3PCR 60-1). When asked, however, whether the statutory mitigating circumstances relating to mental state

applied, Dr. Center testified that he inferred that Breedlove had "emotional problems" and "definite impairment" (3PCR 61-2). cross-examination, the witness stated that he had found no evidence that Breedlove suffered from brain damage (3PCR 63-4). Dr. Levy, another psychologist, similarly testified that he had performed various tests (3PCR 72-3). The witness stated that, based upon the results of these tests, he found that Breedlove was suffering from neurological impairment (3PCR 76). stated that Breedlove had related to him that had a history of drug usage, and the witness stated that this was consistent with his belief that the defendant suffered from schizophrenia (3PCR Levy likewise stated Breedlove had told him that he had received psychiatric treatment in California (3PCR 78). asked about the statutory mitigating circumstances, Dr. Levy stated that Breedlove's schizophrenia was in remission (3PCR 79-82); Dr. Levy stated that Breedlove had told him that he had no recollection (3PCR ofthe murder 97). Dr. Miller, psychiatrist, testified that, in his opinion, Breedlove suffered from chronic paranoid schizophrenia (3PCR 102). whether a person with this condition would suffer from an extreme mental or emotional disturbance, the doctor replied that a schizophrenic would "suffer from an extreme mental condition"; when asked whether Breedlove's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law had been substantially impaired, Dr. Levy stated that Breedlove had seemed capable of adhering to the requirements of the law at the time he had seen him (3PCR 104-5). On cross-examination, the expert acknowledged that Breedlove's inability to recall the circumstances of the offense made it

difficult, if not impossible, to assess his mental condition at that time (3PCR 116-118).

The state called two psychiatrists in rebuttal, Drs. Jaslow and Mutter (3PCR 126-150). Dr. Jaslow testified that he had examined Breedlove and had also reviewed his records from the doctor testified that he found nothing to indicate that Breedlove was "seriously disturbed" or that he suffered from organic brain damage (3PCR 126-131). suggested that Breedlove's behavior was consistent with that of a sociopath, and stated that he found no evidence of a major mental disorder or psychosis (3PCR 131-2). Likewise, the state expert testified that, in his opinion, neither statutory mitigating factor - extreme mental or emotional disturbance or substantial impairment to capacity - applied (3PCR 133). Mutter similarly testified that he found neither statutory mitigating circumstances relating to mental state to apply (3PCR 144), and also stated that he found no evidence of psychosis, brain damage or paranoid schizophrenia (3PCR 143). Dr. Mutter stated that Breedlove fit the definition of a sociopath, and acknowledged that he had a problem with drugs and/or alcohol (3PCR 140-1). On redirect, Dr. Mutter stated that he had felt that Breedlove was malingering and had tried to manipulate him during the interview (3PCR 149).

In its closing argument, the state argued that four aggravating circumstances applied - that in regard to prior conviction, that in regard to commission of the homicide during a burglary, that in regard to the homicide having been committed to avoid arrest and that in regard to the homicide having been

especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (3PCR 156-164); regard to the last circumstance, the prosecutor referred the jury the definitions of those terms which the judge would to subsequently give them, and particularly drew their attention to the pitiless nature of the homicide (3PCR 163-4). In his closing argument, counsel for Breedlove, after a rather lurid description of the electrocution process, contested the application of a number of the aggravating circumstances; in arguing against the application of the heinous, atrocious or cruel factor, defense counsel specifically contended that the crime did not fit the definitions which the court would subsequently supply, in that Breedlove had not intended to "inflict a high degree of pain" (3PCR 182-3). Following these arguments, the judge delivered the jury instructions, and advised them, inter alia,

H., that the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

Now, 'heinous' means extremely wicked or shockingly evil.

'Atrocious' means outrageously wicked and vile.

'Cruel' means to designed to inflict a high degree of pain, utter indifference to, or enjoyment of, the suffering of others, pitiless (3PCR 194).

Following the instructions, defense counsel moved for a mistrial in regard to certain portions of the state's closing argument, and stated that the court had "permitted [him] to renew [his] motions." (3PCR 199-200).

The jury subsequently returned an advisory recommendation of death, and, on March 30, 1979, Judge Fuller, sentenced Breedlove

to death (OR 182-190). The court found the existence of three (3) aggravating circumstances - that Breedlove had prior convictions for crimes of violence, §921.141(5)(b) Fla. Stat. (1977); that the homicide had been committed during the course of a burglary, §921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (1977) and that the homicide had been especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, §921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat. (1977). The judge made detailed findings as to this latter factor:

The murder was especially heinous, atrocious The victim, Frank Budnick, was or cruel. asleep in bed along with Carol Meoni when the defendant entered the bedroom with a large The evidence indicated that butcher knife. the defendant approached the bed and began stabbing and slashing with the knife at Frank Budnick. There was a large slash tear found in the pillow slip where the victim had been sleeping. Carol Meoni, who was sleeping next to the victim, was stabbed in the face (Ms. Meoni survived the attack). Both the victim and Ms. Meoni sustained 'defensive' wounds on The victim's right hand had their hands. five (5) distinct wounds. The fatal blow resulted when the defendant plunged the knife into the victim's upper chest with tremendous The knife fractured the clavicle force. (collar bone) as it entered the body and proceeded to sever the subclavin vein. knife punctured the left lung and came to rest in the muscles of the shoulder blade. The medical examiner described the injury as a penetrating knife wound approximately five  $(5 \ 1/2)$  inches deep, which and one half would result in considerable pain. victim got out of bed, stated 'I'm bleeding,' and walked outside into the front yard where he tried to call for help and collapsed. medical examiner stated that while he was conscious the victim would have experienced the additional sensation of drowning as blood flowed into his lung. The mechanism of death was that the victim drowned in his own blood. (OR 186).

After a lengthy analysis, the court concluded that no mitigating circumstances, statutory or otherwise, applied (OR 186-9).

Breedlove appealed his convictions and sentence of death to this court, and the appeal was styled Breedlove v. State, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 56,811. In the Initial Brief, filed on or about June 16, 1980, counsel for Breedlove raised six (6) primary claims for relief (3PCR 217-322). In the point on appeal regarding the death sentence, counsel attacked the aggravating circumstances found, and specifically contended that the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance had been improperly found (3PCR 294-9). Appellate counsel maintained that, as a matter of law, the factor had been improperly found as a part of the death sentence, in that the homicide had not been accompanied by the "additional acts" required; appellate counsel cited to Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S. 420, 100 S.Ct. 1759, 624 L.Ed.2d 398 (1980). Appellate counsel contended that the trial court should not have admitted Dr. Wright's expert testimony as to the victim's suffering, and stated that such error was exacerbated by the court's denial of Breedlove's special requested instruction on heinous, atrocious or cruel (3PCR 296-8). The matter was repeated in the Reply Brief (3PCR 416-7).

In its opinion, <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 459 U.S. 882, 103 S.Ct. 184, 74 L.Ed.2d 149 (1982), this court affirmed Breedlove's convictions and sentence of death in all respects. This court found that there was sufficient evidence to sustain the conviction under either the felony murder or premeditation theory, and, as to the latter, observed the evidence included, "Breedlove's arming himself with a butcher knife before entering the bedrooms and the defensive wounds suffered by both victims." <u>Breedlove</u>, 413 So.2d at 8 n.12. As to the heinous, atrocious or cruel factor, this court found:

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