## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,731

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

MCARTHUR BREEDLOVE,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

MICHAEL J. MINERVA Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 092487

GAIL E. ANDERSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0841544

TODD G. SCHER Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0899641

TERRI L. BACKHUS Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0946427

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The State also argues that it would be "inequitable" to find that the proposed instruction preserved the claim because in closing argument defense counsel argued the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator according to the definitions which were provided in the jury instruction (Initial Brief at 26). Apparently, the State would have this Court rule that when a trial court denies a motion and counsel then complies with the court's ruling, counsel has somehow waived the objection raised by the motion. In Mr. Breedlove's case, counsel simply tailored his argument to the instructions the judge would be giving the jury. Counsel could do nothing else, unless the State is now advocating that in order to preserve an objection, counsel must argue to the jury that the judge's instructions are wrong.

The preservation at trial of the jury instruction issue in Mr. Breedlove's case could not be clearer. Counsel proposed an expanded definition of the then-standard jury instruction on heinous, atrocious, or cruel, in order to comport with the proper and complete definition found in <u>Dixon</u>. The trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In a desperate attempt to deter the Court from applying the clear language of <u>Atwater</u> and <u>James</u>, the State pulls out of thin air the novel proposition that this Court should impose a different manner of preserving issues for purposes of direct appeal as opposed to preserving issues for collateral attack (Initial Brief at 26 n.4). Such a proposition is unworthy of any meaningful discussion, and Mr. Breedlove would simply point out that this Court's decisions in <u>James</u>, <u>Hitchcock</u>, and <u>Atwater</u> recognize that preserving the issue by submission of a proposed expanded instruction is sufficient whether the case arises on direct appeal or on collateral attack.

unquestionably was apprised of the nature of defense counsel's objection to the instruction and had the opportunity to rule on the issue when he denied the requested expanded instruction because it was "covered in the charge." Defense counsel also objected to the court's denial of prior objections "that would provide for these instructions as being unconstitutional." Counsel further objected to the testimony of the medical examiner, citing this Court's decision in <u>Cooper</u>, which held that the jury must receive instructions on heinous, atrocious, or cruel, which comport with the Court's definition in <u>Dixon</u>. Judge Levenson correctly found this issue preserved at trial.

The fact that this issue was adequately preserved at trial is also evidenced by the fact that the issue was explicitly and decidedly raised on direct appeal. Not only did appellate counsel raise the issue that § 921.141 was violative of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, <u>see</u> 3PCR. 283, but counsel also specifically addressed the unconstitutional vagueness of the instruction provided to Mr. Breedlove's jury (3PCR. 294-299). Appellate counsel went on to address the trial court preservation of the issue, arguing that counsel had requested an expanded instruction according to the <u>Dixon</u> standard, and that the trial court erroneously denied counsel's request:

> [C]ounsel requested the court to instruct the jury, pursuant to the express language of <u>Dixon</u>, that subsection (5)(h) applies "only where the actual commission of the capital felony was accomplished by such additional acts as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies" (SR 8). The court refused to give this instruction (SR. 8; Tr.

1386-87), in direct contravention of the rule announced by this Court in <u>Cooper v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>:

Of course, a proper instruction defining the terms "especially heinous, atrocious or cruel", or any other listed circumstance, must be given. Here the trial judge read the jury the interpretation of that term which we gave in <u>Dixon</u>. No more was required. 336 So.2d at 1140.

It would have been inappropriate, in any case, for the trial court to refuse to give an instruction which tracks the definition announced by this Court in <u>Dixon</u> -- but in this case, where such an instruction was absolutely essential to protect against improper considerations being insinuated into the delicate weighing process to be performed by the jury, it was clearly error. <u>See</u> <u>Godfrey v. Georgia</u>, U.S. , 27 Cr.L. 3115, 3118 (1980), opinion filed May 19, 1980.

(3PCR. 297-298). The Reply Brief filed by Mr. Breedlove's counsel on direct appeal also reveals that the issue was preserved at trial and raised on appeal (3PCR. 416-417). During oral argument before this Court, appellate counsel also specifically discussed the jury instruction issue (Breedlove v. State, Florida Supreme Court, No. 56,811, Tape of Oral Argument). Following the issuance of the direct appeal opinion, Mr. Breedlove's appellate counsel filed a motion for rehearing which reiterated the jury instruction issue.

The State conceded below and in its Initial Brief on the instant appeal that the issue had been raised on direct appeal. In addition to the fact that appellate preservation satisfies the requisites of <u>James</u>, the manner in which the issue was raised on direct appeal further emphasizes the fact that the issue was clearly preserved in the trial court. Despite the clarity of counsel's substantial argument in the direct appeal briefs and oral argument raising the jury instruction issue, the State never objected to appellate counsel's raising of an issue which now according to the State was not preserved at trial. The State certainly does not hesitate to point out to the Court when issues have been inappropriately raised due to procedural reasons. Since the issue was explicitly raised on direct appeal, as the State has conceded, and the State failed to assert any procedural bar, the State must be deemed to have waived any reliance on a procedural default argument. <u>See Cannady v. State</u>, 620 So. 2d 165, 170 (Fla. 1993).

It is entirely proper for the Court to examine the direct appeal brief in order to ascertain whether the issue was properly preserved for appellate review by trial counsel. In Mr. Breedlove's case, the issue was clearly raised on direct appeal, as the State has conceded. The State's concession that the issue was raised on direct appeal must also be taken as a concession that the issue was raised at trial, given the fact that issues may not be properly raised on appeal unless they have been preserved at trial. Judge Levenson's finding that the issue was raised at trial and on appeal should be upheld. Mr. Breedlove's claim is undoubtedly cognizable on collateral attack at this time. James.

II. THE LOWER COURT APPLIED THE CORRECT HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS IN ASSESSING THE CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR WHICH INFECTED MR. BREEDLOVE'S CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS, AND CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE STATE HAD NOT PROVEN BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR DID NOT AFFECT THE JURY'S CONSIDERATION OF ITS RECOMMENDED SENTENCE OF DEATH.

As Mr. Breedlove has indisputably established that <u>Espinosa</u> error occurred, the <u>State</u> must establish <u>beyond a reasonable</u> <u>doubt</u> that the error was harmless. This Court has set forth the proper analysis with respect to the harmless error determination that must be undertaken:

> We cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt, however, that the invalid instruction [on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator] did not affect the jury's consideration or that its recommendation would have been the same if the requested expanded instruction had been given.

James, 615 So. 2d at 669. See also Jackson (Andrea Hicks) v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at S217. Therefore, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that "the invalid instruction did not affect the jury's consideration or that its recommendation would have been the same if the requested expanded instruction had been given." James. As in James, Espinosa, Jackson, and <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 483 (Fla. 1993), it is impossible in this case to gauge the effect that the erroneous jury instruction had on Mr. Breedlove's sentencing jury. Judge Levenson applied the correct harmless error analysis, and found that the State had not met its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt "that the invalid instruction did not affect the jury's consideration" (3PCR. 542). "Because that question cannot be answered negatively or affirmatively beyond a reasonable

doubt," (<u>id</u>.), Judge Levenson ordered a resentencing. The order below should be affirmed because the State cannot meet its burden of establishing harmlessness.

Regarding harmless error analysis, the State contends that Judge Levenson applied an incorrect standard (Initial Brief at 28, 33). The State accuses Mr. Breedlove's counsel and Judge Levenson of ignoring this Court's precedent, although all of that precedent was thoroughly argued below. However, the State does not once mention the proper harmless error standard itself, never discussing the standard enunciated in <u>James</u> and <u>Hitchcock</u>. Further, the State has grossly misrepresented the record and the arguments presented below. Judge Levenson considered all arguments presented, applied the proper harmless standard, and her order should be affirmed.

This Court's harmless error test was enunciated in <u>State v.</u> <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The harmless error test "places the burden on the state, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." <u>Id</u>. at 1138. The Court further explained:

> The test is not a sufficiency-of-theevidence, a correct result, a not clearly wrong, a substantial evidence, a more probable than not, a clear and convincing, or even an overwhelming evidence test. Harmless error is not a device for the appellate court to substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by simply weighing the evidence. The focus is on the effect of the error on the trier-offact. The question is whether there is a

reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict. The burden to show the error was harmless must remain on the state. If the appellate court cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict, then the error is by definition harmful.

Id. at 1139. This is the test which this Court has applied in cases such as <u>James</u>, <u>Hitchcock</u>, and <u>Jackson</u>.

In <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, the Court granted relief based on Espinosa error, finding that, despite the fact that the Court had previously upheld the applicability of heinous, atrocious, or cruel, the jury instruction error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and required resentencing because "[w]e cannot tell what part the instruction played in the jury's consideration of its recommended sentence." Hitchcock, 614 So. 2d at 484. In dissent, Justice Grimes wrote that the error should be found harmless because four (4) aggravating factors had been found, as well as mitigation, and because the heinous, atrocious, or cruel factor properly applied. Id. Nonetheless, a majority of the Court ordered a resentencing because the Court could not "tell what part the instruction played in the jury's consideration of its recommended sentence." Id. Furthermore, in Jackson, the Court remanded for a resentencing because, while the aggravator was not stricken as inapplicable, the Court ruled that the jury instruction provided to the jury was unconstitutionally vague. and the Court "[could not] say beyond a reasonable doubt that the invalid CCP instruction did not affect the jury's consideration or that its recommendation would have been the same if the

requested expanded instruction had been given." <u>Jackson</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at S217.

The Court engaged in a similar analysis in <u>James</u>. Noting that it had struck the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor on appeal, it found that the trial court's consideration of the invalid factor was harmless error. As to the jury's consideration of the invalid factor, however, the Court could not say beyond a reasonable doubt "that the invalid instruction did not affect the jury's consideration or that its recommendation would have been the same if the requested expanded instruction had been given." <u>James</u>, 615 So. 2d at 669. <u>See Johnson v.</u> <u>Singletary</u>, 612 So. 2d 575, 576-77 (Fla. 1993) ("under <u>Sochor</u> and <u>Espinosa</u>, an error would exist if the jury was instructed improperly on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel factor, whether or not the trial court in its written findings found the same factor to be present").

The standard enunciated in <u>Hitchcock</u>, <u>Jackson</u> and <u>James</u> is precisely the standard applied by Judge Levenson in Mr. Breedlove's case.<sup>9</sup> In her order, Judge Levenson stated that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The State complains that Judge Levenson did not apply the standard enunciated in <u>Henderson v. Singletary</u>, 617 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 1993)(Initial Brief at 21-22). While it is not clear what the State believes the <u>Henderson</u> standard is, that case relies on <u>DiGuilio</u> and states:

<sup>[</sup>W]e agree with the trial court that any error in connection with these instructions was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla.1986). On this record, there is no reasonable possibility the giving of the challenged (continued...)

harmless error question was "can this Court find beyond a reasonable doubt that the invalid instruction did not affect the jury's decision to recommend the death penalty?" (3PCR. 541). Compare James, 615 So. 2d at 669 (Court could not say beyond a reasonable doubt "that the invalid instruction did not affect the jury's consideration"). Judge Levenson determined that the error was not harmless "because it is impossible to know beyond a reasonable doubt that the invalid instruction did not affect the jury's consideration" and because the question whether the jury's recommendation would have been different if a proper instruction had been given "cannot be answered negatively or affirmatively beyond a reasonable doubt" (3PCR. 541-542). Again, this analysis is fully in accord with this Court's precedent. See Hitchcock, 614 So. 2d at 484 ("[w]e cannot tell what part the instruction played in the jury's consideration of its recommended sentence"); James, 615 So. 2d at 669 (Court could not say beyond a reasonable doubt "that the invalid instruction did not affect the jury's consideration or that its recommendation would have been the same if the requested expanded instruction had been given"); Jackson, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at S217 (Court "cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that the invalid CCP instruction did not affect the jury's consideration or that its recommendation would have been the same

> <sup>9</sup>(...continued) instructions contributed to the jury's recommendations of death. <u>DiGuilio</u>.

617 So. 2d at 315. This is the same standard applied by Judge Levenson.

if the requested expanded instruction had been given"). Judge Levenson clearly applied the proper harmless error standard.

The State also accuses Mr. Breedlove's counsel of misleading Judge Levenson regarding the appropriate factors to consider in conducting a harmless error analysis. However, the record clearly reflects that Mr. Breedlove's counsel argued that numerous factors must enter into the harmless error analysis:

> What matters is the whole picture. It's not just number of aggravators. It's not just whether the facts support this particular aggravator. It's everything. Considering the whole picture, can Your Honor say beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless. Considering the number of aggravators, considering the mitigation presented, considering the facts as they relate to the aggravator; and whether the definition would have made a difference in how the jury considered that aggravator. All those things together go into the harmless error question.

(T. 87; <u>see also</u> T. 59-67). Indeed, despite its accusations, the State recognizes that all of these matters must enter into the harmless error analysis (<u>See</u> Initial Brief at 28 ["In looking to the effect of any error of this type, this court has, on occasion, looked to the existence of other aggravating factors, and the absence, or relative weakness, of mitigation"]; <u>Id</u>. at 31 ["in looking to the harmlessness of any error of this sort, it is relevant to consider, <u>inter alia</u>: (a) the existence of other aggravation; (b) the existence (or absence) of mitigation and (c) the actual deficiency in the jury instruction given"]). These were all matters argued to and thoroughly considered by Judge Levenson.

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